
Meeting of:  Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee
Date: Tuesday, 26th March, 2019
Time: 2.00 pm.
Venue: Room G11, Ground Floor – Number One 

Riverside

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 3 - 4

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Property Growth Fund 
Sub-Committee held on 12th February 2019. 

6.  CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND DISPOSAL STRATEGY FOR 2019/20 5 - 36

To consider the Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy for 2019/20. 

Public Document Pack



7.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

8.  PROPERTY INVESTMENTS 37 - 40

To consider a report about Property Investments. 

Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee Members
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor John Blundell
Councillor Allen Brett

Councillor Emsley (Substitute)
Councillor Rowbotham (Substitute)

For more information about this meeting, please contact:-

Alison James – Governance and Committee Services
E-mail – alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk


PROPERTY GROWTH FUND SUB-COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 12th February 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Brett (in the Chair); Councillors Emsley (Substituting for 
Councillor Daalat Ali) and Rowbotham (substituting for Councillor Blundell)

OFFICERS: S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), R. Scott (Neighbourhoods 
Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).  

Also in Attendance:  Councillor Ashley Dearnley

APOLOGIES
27 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Daalat Ali and 
Blundell.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
28 There were no declarations of interests.

MINUTES
29 Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee 
held 16th January 2019 be approved and signed as a correct record.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
30 Resolved:
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following two items of business, in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

Reason for Decision:
Should the press and public remain during debate on the items there may be 
a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 and 4 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

DISPOSAL OF LAND AT FORMER KIRKHOLT WORKING MEN'S CLUB
31 The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods that report sought approval for disposal of Council land at the 
former Kirkholt Working Men’s Club, Kirkholt, to Rochdale Boroughwide 
Housing (RBH) at nil value. A plan detailing the location of the property was 
appended to the Sub-Committee’s report.

Alternatives considered:
Various alternative options were outlined in the Director of Economy’s report.

Resolved:
1. The Sub-Committee notes and acknowledges the wider benefits and 
improvements that the redevelopment of this site, as set out in the submitted 
report, will provide which therefore justify the disposal at nil value;

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



2. The Sub-Committee agrees to dispose of the site detailed in the report 
to Rochdale Boroughwide Housing for nil value in order to enable 
development of the site by Rochdale Boroughwide Housing for affordable 
housing; 
3.  The Sub-Committee agrees to delegate the approval of the final heads 
of term for the disposal of land at the former Kirkholt Working Men’s Club to 
the Director of Neighbourhoods and the Director of Resources once 
agreement has been reached between Rochdale Borough Council and 
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing.
Eligible for Call-in: Yes.

Page 4



Report to Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee

Date of Meeting Tuesday 26th March 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Planning, Development & 
Housing

Report Author Victoria Bradshaw  
Public/Private Document Public

Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy for 2019/20

Executive Summary

1.1 This report is to provide an update to Members regarding the 2019/20 Capital Investment and 
Disposal Strategy (‘The Strategy’) set out in Appendix 1, which outlines how the Council will 
meet the requirements of the relevant legislation, codes of practice and guidance that form the 
Prudential Framework, and MHCLG Guidance on Local Authority Investments.

1.2 The Strategy is the Council’s policy for ensuring that the following outcomes are met:

 To provide an overview of the Council’s plans for capital investments/disposals, and asset 
management planning

 To set out the governance process for approval and monitoring of capital expenditure, and 
any related long-term liabilities

 To show how the Council’s planned capital expenditure will be funded within the context of 
relevant funding limits, how any external debt will be repaid, and what the associated costs 
are

 To set out the Council’s approach to commercial activities including due diligence, risk 
appetite and proportionality in respect of the Council’s overall resources

 To summarise the knowledge and skills available to the Council, and whether these are 
considered to be commensurate with its risk appetite.

1.3 The Strategy is a high level overview of how the Council’s capital expenditure, capital financing 
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services.  The Strategy 
provides an overview of how risks are managed, and what the implications are for future 
financial sustainability.  The purpose of the Strategy is to set out how the Council takes capital 
expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes account 
of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability.

Recommendations

2.1 The annual Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy for 2019/20 be noted with particular 
reference to:

2.2 The objectives of the Strategy contained in section 2 and Appendix A.

2.3 The approach to and governance arrangement around commercial property investment 
contained in section 5.

2.4 The Council’s risk appetite and quantitative indicators set out in section 6.3, including limits on 
investment in terms of the proportion of debt and income relating to capital investments 
compared to net service expenditure.

2.5 Members should note the report of the Chief Finance Officer in terms of the affordability and 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



risks associated with the Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy, as set out in paragraph 5.2.

Reasons for Recommendations

3.1 The report is produced to update Members on the Capital Investment and Disposal 
Strategy and to ensure that Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee Members are informed of 
and ensure adherence to the requirements of the Prudential Framework and MHCLG 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 Background

4.1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations requires the Council to have 
regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA) Prudential Code, the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code of Practice, and MHCLG Guidance on Local Authority 
Investments, to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable.

4.1.2 The Prudential Code was revised in 2017 to include a requirement for local authorities to 
produce a capital strategy, ‘in order to demonstrate that the authority takes capital expenditure 
and investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes account of 
stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability’.  The strategy should 
set out ‘the long-term context in which capital expenditure and investment decisions are made 
and gives due consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the achievement of priority 
outcomes’. 

4.1.3 MHCLG Guidance on Local Authority Investments published in February 2018 widened the 
definition of an investment to include all the financial assets of an authority as well as other 
non-financial assets held primarily or partially to generate a profit.  This wider definition includes 
investment property portfolios.  The Guidance requires local authorities to produce an 
investment strategy, which must be approved by Full Council on an annual basis, but which can 
be included within a capital or treasury management strategy as appropriate.

4.1.4 The Strategy included at Appendix 1 incorporates the requirements of the revised Prudential 
Code and the MHCLG Guidance.

4.1.5 The Strategy focuses on the core principles underpinning the Council’s three year capital 
programme and the links to service delivery via the Place Plan, the Townships Plan, the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Asset Strategy.  It sets out the position in terms of 
planned capital expenditure and resources available for funding.  It also focusses on the key 
issues and risks associated with capital investment, and the governance framework required to 
ensure the Strategy is delivered. 

 
4.2 Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy

4.2.1 The Council’s Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy sets out the governance processes 
surrounding capital expenditure which culminates in the three year capital programme 
approved at Budget Council on an annual basis, detailing the pipeline process that capital 
schemes must adhere to in order to gain approval, including demonstrating links to the 
Council’s Corporate Strategies.  It also provides an overview of the plans in place to effectively 
manage the Council’s assets, and thereby safeguard the Council’s capital investment. 

4.2.2 The proposed capital programme for 2019/20 to 2021/22 is as follows:

Page 6



2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

Total Requirement 80,990 54,803 26,430

4.2.3 The Strategy has particular focus on the Council’s commercial activity with regard to capital 
investments, in line with the objectives of the Asset Strategy.  Consideration of proportionality is 
included, and the extent to which the Council is dependent on the income it derives from its 
commercial property investments.  The Strategy also sets out policies and procedures in 
respect of commercial activity, including the extensive opportunity appraisal and due diligence 
procedures the Council undertakes before entering any investment, and additional governance 
arrangements for such investments.

4.2.4  Treasury management is a vital component of any capital strategy; although this is covered in 
detail in the annually approved Treasury Management Strategy the Capital Investment and 
Disposal Strategy gives an overview of the governance arrangements, borrowing limits and risk 
management particular to the treasury management requirements of the Council’s capital 
investments, and how any external debt incurred will be repaid.

4.2.5 The Strategy also sets out the Council’s risk appetite with respect to its commercial property 
investment activities, in the form of a number of quantitative indicators recommended in the 
MHCLG Guidance.  The first two of these indicators (the Debt to Net Service Expenditure 
(NSE) Ratio and Commercial Income to NSE Ratio) gives the Council an opportunity to set a 
limit on its investment activities that reflects its risk attitude in terms of proportionality and 
dependence on commercial activities to fund service provision.  For 2019/20 onwards these 
limits have been set as follows:

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Gross Debt 19,361 35,172 78,515 87,097 85,579
NSE 204,400 202,677 208,425 204,655 205,898
Debt to NSE Ratio 9.47% 17.35% 37.67% 42.56% 41.56% 120%

Limit

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Commercial Income 342 618 1,383 1,840 1,752
NSE 204,400 202,677 208,425 204,655 205,898
Commercial Income to 
NSE Ratio

0.17% 0.30% 0.66% 0.90% 0.85% 1.85%

Limit

Work is currently being undertaken on aligning the Council’s core activities, in order to better 
align the resources it receives to the activities it undertakes, ensuring that core/statutory 
functions are supported by resources with the highest level of stability.  This will further mitigate 
the risk presented by investment activities to the continuation of vital Council services.  It is 
expected that this exercise will be completed in the next financial year, and the above 
indicators will be revised in the future to reflect the outcomes of this work.

4.2.6 Section 6 of the Strategy focusses on the skills and knowledge available to the Council in 
carrying out its capital investment activities, and the extent to which it uses external advisors in 
the course of those activities.  Further training for Members in terms of investment activity is 
planned to take place in the next financial year.

4.4 Alternatives Considered

4.4.1 There are no feasible alternatives – all proposals are in accordance with the revised CIPFA 
Prudential Code, which has been formally adopted by the Council and with Government 
guidance regarding Local Authority Investments.

Page 7



Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 Financial implications are considered in the main body of the report. Appropriate budgets exist 
for all capital activity outlined, as detailed in the Capital Programme 2019/20 – 2021/22 report 
to Cabinet on 30th October 2018.

5.2 The Council’s Chief Finance Officer confirms that the affordability and risk associated with the 
Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy are acceptable in terms of the Council’s overall 
financial position and risk appetite.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1 In preparing the report financial risks have been considered in relation to the best methods of 
managing the Council’s exposure to the various risks arising from its commercial property 
investment activities.

6.2 Key risks are set out in section 6.3 of the Strategy and include:

 Financial risks – e.g. the impact of investments on cash flow; market volatility
 Macroeconomic risk – i.e. factors affecting the local, national of global economy
 Credit and counterparty risk – e.g. where a tenant fails to meet rental payments
 Operational risk – relating to failures of processes, systems or people
 Strategic risk – e.g. those presented by significant investments, new ventures etc.
 Reputational risk – i.e. adverse reputational impacts from investment activities
 Environment and social risks – relating to  the environmental or social impact of the 

Council’s investments 
 Governance risk – i.e. where governance processes are insufficient to ensure investment 

outcomes

as well as specific risks associated with commercial property investment such as vacancies/ 
void periods, reduction in capital value, a downturn in the property market, lack of diversification 
and poor liquidity. 

6.3 It is believed that the strategy proposed will allow the Council to continue to effectively 
manage its exposure to these risks without any significant increases in overall financial risk.

Consultation

7.1 Stakeholders are consulted through the development of the Strategy with the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee receiving the report on the11th February.

Background Papers: For further information about this report or access to background papers 
please contact Michelle Ashworth (Head of Commercial, Economy & Resources Finance) Finance 

Services, Floor 2, Number 1 Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale OL16 9DJ.  Tel – 01706 925409 / 
924197.

Document Place of Inspection

CIPFA Prudential Code 

MHCLG Guidance on Local Authority Investments

Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy 2018/19

Commercial, Economy & Resources Team 
Fl2 No1 Riverside
Commercial, Economy & Resources Team 
Fl2 No1 Riverside
Cabinet Agenda 20/2/18 

Page 8



Capital Investment & 
Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

Page 9



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title: Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

Summary

Publication Date January 2019

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation

CIPFA Prudential Code (2017) issued under Part 1 of the Local 
Government Act 2003

CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice (2017) issued under 
Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003

MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd 
Edition) issued under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 
2003

MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision issued 
under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents

Corporate Plan
Place Plan
Townships Plan
Asset Strategy
Medium Term Financial Strategy
Treasury Management Strategy

Replaces Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy 2018 to 2021

Joint Strategy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint N/a

Strategy Owner (Name/Position) Victoria Bradshaw, Chief Finance Officer

Strategy Author (Name/Position) Michelle Ashworth, Head of Commercial, Economy & Resources 
Finance

Applies to

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date January 2019

Review undertaken by Michelle Ashworth

Next Review Date January 2020

Page 10



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 2

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Victoria Bradshaw Chief Finance Officer 22nd January 2019 v1.1

Page 11



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 3

Contents Page

Section Title Page
1 Introduction 3

2 The Purpose of the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy 3

3 Strategic Outcomes 3

4 Capital Expenditure 3

5 Investments and Liabilities 3

6 Treasury Management 3

7 Skills and Knowledge 3

8 Process for Monitoring Compliance and Effectiveness of the 
Strategy Document

3

9 Strategy Governance 3

10 Strategy Review Date 3

11 Supporting Documents 3

12 Appendices 3

Page 12



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 4

1. Introduction 

The Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy forms a key part the Council’s asset management and property 
investment strategies.  It summarises the framework for all aspects of the Council’s capital programme, 
including planning, prioritisation, management and funding, and links our Council’s vision and priorities with 
forecasted capital resources and capital expenditure budgets.  Linking into the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, this ensures that all revenue implications have been recognised and provided for in the Council’s 
revenue budgetary forecasts.

The Strategy covers:

 Capital Expenditure - including asset management planning and governance
 Investments and Liabilities - including approach, due diligence, risk appetite and performance
 Treasury Management – covering governance, planning and risks/sensitivities with respect to capital 

investments
 Skills and Knowledge – detailing the skills, knowledge and training available to the Council in 

making investment decisions

Page 13



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 5

2. The Purpose of the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy 

The Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy is a high level overview of how the Council’s capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services.  The 
Strategy provides an overview of how risks are managed, and what the implications are for future financial 
sustainability.  The purpose of the Strategy is to set out how the Council takes capital expenditure and 
investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for 
money, prudence, sustainability and affordability.

The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations requires the Council to ‘have regard to’ the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  The Act therefore requires the Council to 
‘have in place a capital strategy that sets out the long-term context in which capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the 
achievement of priority outcomes’, which ‘should form a part of the authority’s integrated revenue, capital 
and balance sheet planning’.       

3. Strategic Outcomes

The main objectives of the Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy are:

 To provide an overview of the Council’s plans for capital investments/disposals, and asset 
management planning

 To set out the governance process for approval and monitoring of capital expenditure, and any 
related long-term liabilities

 To show how the Council’s planned capital expenditure will be funded within the context of relevant 
funding limits, how any external debt will be repaid, and what the associated costs are

 To set out the Council’s approach to commercial activities including due diligence, risk appetite and 
proportionality in respect of the Council’s overall resources

 To summarise the knowledge and skills available to the Council, and whether these are considered 
to be commensurate with its risk appetite.

Page 14



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 6

4. Capital Expenditure

4.1 Governance

4.1.1 Links to Corporate Strategies

The Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy summarises the framework within which the Council’s long 
term investment plans will be delivered.  This framework ensures that all capital investments are consistent 
with the Council’s priorities, that associated risks are considered, financial constraints are recognised, and 
value for money is achieved.  These plans are driven by the Council’s Corporate Plan, Townships Plan, 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Asset Strategy, and influenced by a number of Greater Manchester 
strategies.  Links to the Council’s Corporate Strategies can be found in Section 11.

Corporate Plan / Place Plan

Despite significant financial challenges we are committed to delivering our vision of a Council which
builds success and prosperity with our citizens and partners, while protecting our vulnerable people.
Our organisation continues to transform to better help us to deliver on our vision.

The Council has four key priorities to deliver our vision, which are set out in the Borough’s Place
Plan 2016 - 2021:

 People: We will safeguard and protect our vulnerable people and support people of all ages
to be healthier, confident and resilient, in control and successfully managing their lives. We
will enable communities to thrive and develop.

 Place: We will create safe, resilient, flourishing and high quality places where people
choose to live, work and invest.

 Prosperity: We will encourage business growth and enterprise; increase our skills levels
and create the conditions for the creation of good quality jobs.

 Performance: We will remain focused on managing our resources effectively to help us to achieve our 
ambitions

Each priority will be delivered within the context of the continuing plans for devolution, the Northern
Powerhouse, the Greater Manchester Strategy (Our People, Our Place), the GM Growth & Reform Plan, 
Taking Charge of our Health and Social Care in Greater Manchester, and the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework.

Capital investment in Rochdale borough-wide assets, including Council and other public sector assets, is 
critical in delivering quality public services that enable people to access services, create a better place to 
live, and work and contribute to the borough’s growth and prosperity.

Townships Plan

The Townships Committees (currently Heywood, Middleton, Pennines and Rochdale) facilitate local
decision making in line with the Corporate Plan. Each Township has a capital budget set each year
as a single amount by Budget Council, which is then divided between the Townships on the basis of
population. The Townships have devolved powers in relation to capital investment including:

 Allocation of Township Capital Budget between schemes and services within the Township.

Page 15



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 7

 Approval of the disposal of Council assets within the Township.

All capital investment priorities at a Township level are set out in the Townships Plan in line with the
Council’s four key priorities and the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy.

Medium Term Financial Strategy

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a five year plan which sets out the Council’s
commitment to providing services that meet the needs of people locally and that represent good value
for money within the overall resources available to it.  With other key strategies and plans, it ensures
that the Council is best placed to achieve the objectives in the Borough Plan. The MTFS informs
the Council’s capital investment plans through the following objectives:

 To produce three-year capital programme which support the Council’s key priorities and
statutory duties, including working in partnership with others

 To ensure the Council maximises the generation of capital resources while considering the
key priorities for Rochdale Council to ensure these are all been directed towards wider
corporate benefits

 To be clear on investment outcomes, how they will be achieved and how they will be
measured

 To reduce the impact borrowing costs has on the ongoing revenue budget

Through the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy, capital investment will be managed in line with
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Asset Strategy, the IT Strategy and the Fleet Strategy.

Asset Strategy

The Council’s Asset Strategy sets out the overall direction of travel for property management activity
and provides a clear framework of objectives to support decisions affecting the management of
assets. The overall goal of the Asset Strategy is that the Council should own fewer assets, costing less,that 
support Council Services more effectively and are used to increase prosperity for our communities.  

The Council’s Asset Strategy is further discussed in paragraph 4.3.1.

4.1.2 Pipeline process for capital projects

The strategies referred to above provide the context which drives the Council’s need for a comprehensive 
capital programme to support these key priorities and objectives.  
 
The Capital Programme is reviewed and updated on an annual basis, and is approved by Budget Council 
before 11th March each year.  The programme covers three financial years, and is the end result of a 
process that begins with the provisional programme considered at the previous Budget Council, as follows:

Page 16



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 8

Budget Setting Timeline
Activity Date
Review of Capital Programme approved at previous 
Budget Council – taking into account spend to date 
and previous rephasing of budget 

Mid July

Consideration of new schemes submitted via the 
capital bid process

End July

Consideration of the proposed Capital Programme 
by the Strategic Asset Management Group (SAM)

August

Member Review Session with Leader, Deputy 
Leader and Assistant Finance Portfolio Holder

August/September

Cabinet approval of the Capital Programme for 
consultation

September

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
scrutinisation of the recommendation of Cabinet

October

Townships provision of comments on the proposed 
Capital Programme

October/November

Cabinet review consultation comments and 
recommend a Capital Programme to Budget Council 
for approval 

February

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
scrutinise the recommendation of Cabinet

February

Budget Council approval of Capital Programme February/March

The capital bid process involves completion of a comprehensive application document covering the 
following:

 Full project overview including any alternatives considered and critical success factors
 Project Evaluation including how the proposed project links to Corporate priorities
 Project Expenditure – a full assessment of the capital costs of the project, plus identification of any 

resultant future revenue cost implications.  
 Project Financing detailing the proposed source of both the capital and any ongoing revenue funding
 Review – each capital bid is reviewed by the applicant, their project manager, budget holder and 

Service Director, before being signed off by Finance Service.  Approval must also be sought from the 
relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder before the bid can progress.

Capital schemes applying to the Capital Programme must have realistic timeframes that have been 
calculated in consideration of the relevant risks and dependencies.  This includes where funding approvals 
are still required from external bodies.  When a scheme is approved where the proposed spend is profiled 
across financial years, the scheme funding will be allocated across these financial years and will therefore 
be considered as a priority in future years. Rephasing of the Capital Programme after approval is 
considered and approved by Cabinet.  Any reduction in the funding of these schemes will only be 
considered where contracts have not been entered into.  

After approval of the Capital Programme project managers are responsible for delivering and reporting on 
the progress of their projects.  This includes the reporting of rephasing/accelerated progress of the project 
against the expenditure profile.  Monitoring of the Capital Programme is reported to Cabinet on a bi-monthly 
basis.  The outcomes from the Capital Programme will be utilised in the overall review which forms part of 

Page 17



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 9

the budget setting process outlined above, so that experience of past projects can be utilised and learned 
from in setting future spend.

The process described above represents the framework within which the Council’s long term investment 
plans are delivered to ensure that all capital investments are consistent with the Council’s priorities, 
consider associate risks, recognise financial constraints over the longer term and represent value for 
money.

4.1.3 Basis for estimating future costs

As part of the capital bid process, guidance is provided to support in the calculation of the whole life costs of 
the project, including any relevant taxation, professional fees or procurement costs.  The project costs are 
scrutinised by Finance Services who provide challenge to the proposals, including consideration of the 
following:

4.2 Long Term Plans

4.2.1 Capital Forecast

The capital programme process outlined above culminates in the overall capital forecast, which is driven by 
the corporate priorities and objectives outlined above and is set out in the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.  The funding requirement of the capital forecast relating to prudential borrowing is further detailed 
in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy (see section 11).  The overall position can be summarised 
as follows:

Page 18



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 10

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22Directorate
£’000 £’000 £’000

Adult Care 2,440 2,440 2,440
Children’s Services 12,508 20,526 7,516
Corporate 5,000 0 0
Economy 39,970 18,714 7,970
Neighbourhoods 21,072 12,447 8,504
Public Health 0 676 0
Total Requirement 80,990 54,803 26,430
Funding
Prudential Borrowing 21,915 17,059 13,352
External Grant and 
contributions

16,915 24,933 11,923

Invest to Save 32,180 12,286 1,000
Revenue Contribution to 
Capital Outlay

6,680 525 155

Capital Receipts 3,300 0 0
Total funding 80,990 54,803 26,430

A full breakdown of the capital programme is shown at Appendix 1.

4.2.2 Use of Capitalisation Flexibilities

The capital programme as summarised above is funded from a range of sources, which includes receipts 
from the sale of assets (‘capital receipts’).

In December 2017, the Government announced the continuation of the capital receipts flexibility 
programme for a further three years, to give local authorities the continued freedom to use capital receipts 
from the sale of their own assets to help fund the revenue costs of transformation projects and release 
savings.

Local authorities are only able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, plant and equipment 
received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. They may not use their existing stock of capital 
receipts to finance the revenue costs of reform. 

The expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied should be the up-front costs that will generate future 
ongoing savings and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs or to improve the quality of service 
delivery in future years. The ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot be 
classified as qualifying expenditure.

The Council has not utilised this flexibility to date, and uses its capital receipts to help fund the capital 
programme. The Council has created a Transformation Fund to provide the resources necessary to invest 
in any proposal where one off funding is required on an invest-to-save basis, to generate the savings or 
additional income.

4.3 Asset Management Planning

4.3.1 Overview of the Asset Management Plan

Page 19



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 11

At the end of financial year 2017/18, the Council held tangible fixed assets valued in excess of £800m, 
broken down as follows:

 

Asset Type Asset Category  31st March 2018
£m 

Property, Plant and Equipment                       763.8 
Heritage Assets                         18.3 
Investment Property                         41.2 

Current Assets Held for Sale                           2.6 
Total                       825.9 

Long Term

The borrowing costs associated with the Council’s asset base are detailed in the Treasury Management 
Strategy, and are budgeted at £17.8m in 2018/19. The direct costs of maintaining the asset base are 
estimated to be approximately £7.9m in 2018/19. 

Given the significant value of the Council’s assets, and the ongoing costs of acquiring and maintaining 
those assets, it is vital that they are managed efficiently and effectively.

Asset management can be defined as:

‘…the activity that seeks to align the asset base with the organisation’s corporate goals and objectives.  It 
ensures that the land and buildings asset base of an organisation is optimally structured in the best 
corporate interest of the organisation concerned.’ 1

The strategic management of the Council’s property asset base is governed by the Asset Strategy (2016-
2019), which was approved by Cabinet in 2016 and is reviewed on an annual basis.  

The core aims of the Asset Strategy are:

 To hold fewer but more efficient assets
 To facilitate improving Council and partner services
 To realise maximum value from the estate
 To support economic growth

The objectives of the Asset Strategy are:

 To improve front-line service delivery and to maintain a high profile presence within the community
 To contribute to the borough’s economic growth, and to its social and environmental well-being
 To develop a more efficient property portfolio, increasingly fit for purpose
 To realise asset values through capital receipts and maximising rental income
 To deliver revenue savings and to reduce property owner’s liability from a programme of asset 

rationalisation

To achieve these aims, the Asset Strategy plans a number of activities along the following themes:

1 Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors – Public Sector Asset Management Guidelines 2012.

Page 20



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 12

Theme Workstream Summary of Objectives
Governance To establish and maintain efficient governance methods and key policies 

and procedures to achieve the effective management of the Council’s 
assets

Building a Sustainable 
portfolio

To improve the condition, fitness for purpose and utilisation of each 
property asset

Asset Rationalisation To reduce the number of assets in order to reduce the costs and 
liabilities of property ownership

Portfolio 
Scrutiny

Effective Property Data To continue to improve the available data on each of the Council’s 
property assets in order to support effective decision making

Acquisitions, Investments 
and New Developments

To take advantage of opportunities to provide tangible benefits to the 
borough through investment in property

Assets for Growth and 
Prosperity

To deliver high quality buildings and public space
To achieve the building of more new homes (including those affordable 
to local people)
To encourage businesses to invest and thrive in the borough
To enhance the borough as a tourist destination
To manage income-generating assets to improve yields and financial 
return

Assets Supporting Council 
Services

To make the portfolio increasingly fit for the purposes of service delivery, 
including reducing the portfolio size and costs, using retained assets to 
deliver quality, efficient services

Assets Held for Sale To secure capital receipts, revenue savings and/or other community 
benefits from the disposal of Council land & property, generating 
resources to be reinvested, and creating a portfolio that is affordable and 
fit for purpose

Assets and the 
Environment

To improve the management and maintenance of the Council’s ‘green’ 
assets in order to maintain an acceptable standard of cleanliness and 
enhance the borough’s environment and health and wellbeing
To maintain a portfolio of assets that is suitable in terms of size, quality 
and accessibility to provide recreation opportunities for residents of the 
borough

Assets in the Community To provide land and buildings to facilitate the voluntary sector’s work in 
delivering services to their local community and/or complementing the 
Council’s core objectives

Workstreams

Assets Adding Value To increase income generation
To rationalise the portfolio to improve yields and financial return
To manage the portfolio to secure maintenance of an aesthetic 
environment and to protect asset values 

The Asset Strategy is owned by the Council’s Strategic Asset Management Group (SAM), who provide 
strategic advice and support to the capital programme to ensure that it meets the priorities for Rochdale 
Council and takes into consideration our partners’ priorities and objectives (e.g. the Greater Manchester 
Strategy; the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework).  The SAM will ensure that all funding is fully aligned 
with strategic partners, including the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM) and others.  

The approved Asset Strategy also aims to identify any of the Council’s property assets which are suitable 
for disposal, i.e. those which do not align with the Council’s vision and investment priorities.  Those 
properties which are not ‘fit for purpose’ for service delivery and are costly to run and/or are under-utilised 
will be disposed of in line with the asset strategy.

Page 21



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 13

Capital receipts from the disposal of assets can only be used to fund capital investment, subject to the 
capital receipts flexibility programme outlined in paragraph 4.2.2. As such capital receipts will be used to 
fund the capital programme reducing the requirement to borrow for capital investment.
5. Investments and Liabilities

5.1 Approach, Due Diligence & Risk Appetite

5.1.1 Investment for Financial Return

The core ambitions of the Council’s Asset Strategy include improving the efficiency of assets, realising 
maximum value from the estate and supporting economic growth.  In recognition of this, and the continuing 
financial limitations due to reductions in public funding as detailed in the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
the Council has implemented a commercial property investment strategy, designed to achieve rental 
income and revenue savings from acquiring an investment portfolio, whilst contributing to the Council’s 
overall regeneration aims for the borough.  The Council has approved funding via the capital programme in 
order to achieve these aims.  The investments made to date have all been within the borough of Rochdale, 
and as such have contributed to the aim of supporting economic growth within the local area.  The financial 
return generated has been utilised to support the provision of services for the residents of Rochdale, and it 
is planned that this will continue into future financial years. 

5.1.2 Dependence on Commercial Activity 

The Council’s current/planned investments in commercial 
property make a contribution to the overall resources that 
the Council has to provide its services to residents of the 
borough.  In 18/19 the proportion of resource derived from 
this activity represented less than 1% of the Council’s 
overall budgeted resource, and this proportion is not 
planned to increase significantly over the period covered by 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy. The extent to which 
the Council’s budget and council tax calculation is 
dependent on commercial activity is therefore considered to 
be low.

The Council is undertaking an exercise to better align the 
resources it receives to the activities it undertakes, to 
ensure that core/statutory functions are supported by 
resources with the highest level of stability.  This will further 
mitigate the risk presented by investment activities to the 
continuation of vital Council services.  It is expected that this exercise will be completed in the next 
financial year.

5.1.3 Policies and Procedures for Commercial Activity 

The Council’s commercial activity to date has centred around investment in property.  In March 2017 the 
Council approved a Property Growth Fund (‘the Fund’) to facilitate the acquisition of a property portfolio to 
achieve rental income and revenue saving, whilst contributing to the Council’s overall regeneration aims for 
the borough.  

The Fund currently consists of three elements:

Page 22



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 14

Fund Purpose
Property Investment Fund To acquire investment properties to provide a 

return on investment, to reinvest in the delivery of 
Council services, and support regeneration of the 
borough

Direct Development Fund To create property via direct development, 
maximising land value and potential, with a focus 
on underutilised brownfield sites in the borough, 
in order to generate rental/business rates income, 
create job opportunities and attract new 
occupiers/retain current occupiers within the 
borough

Asset Development Fund To enhance revenue income of existing assets 
through new lettings, refurbishments, acquisitions 
and disposals; to enhance the capital value of 
assets, and to invest in site assembly to improve 
the viability of development sites

The power to approve the acquisition of property rests with Cabinet. However, if the Council wishes to 
operate effectively in the property investment market it must be in a position to move quickly to take 
advantage of opportunities as they arise. This agility is essential in order to benefit from the best deals and 
also to persuade vendors and agents that the Council is both willing and able to move forward with 
proposals in which it has expressed an interest. To this end, Cabinet has approved the following delegation 
arrangements for the Property Growth Fund:

(1) The responsibility of administering the Fund, including the acquisition of property, has been 
delegated to a Cabinet Sub-Committee comprising:

• The Leader of the Council;
• The Portfolio Holders for Finance and Housing & Environment;

and requiring a quorum of at least two members of the group to conduct business, all of which is 
undertaken in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Employment Skills and Business and the Leader of 
the Opposition.

(2) Reports on potential acquisitions will be presented as required to the Cabinet Sub-Committee. The 
Sub-Committee will approve the programme of acquisitions and the budget for each project.

Cabinet has also set financial parameters for the performance of the Fund, in that a minimum net return on 
the total cost of investment of 1.5% must be achieved across the Fund as a whole. 

A Property Growth Fund working group, comprising of officers from a number of disciplines across the 
Council, including Property, Legal and Finance Services, has been set up to manage the day to day 
operations of the Fund, including opportunity appraisal and due diligence with regard to proposed 
investments.  The Council considers due diligence to be of paramount importance, and as such each 
proposed investment is subject to the following process:

Page 23



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 15

i. Opportunity Scoring Matrix – a matrix is completed for the proposed acquisition, focussing on the 
following criteria:

 Potential for rental and/or capital growth – property has the potential for both revenue and 
capital growth, which must be taken into account when assessing the strength of the opportunity; 
property values can rise and fall, as can the income generated from that property.  Rent review 
provisions in existing leases and potential future market rental values must be considered.

 Tenancy strength – in order to minimise risks around income stability, the quality of any 
existing tenant must be investigated, including gaining reports on creditworthiness and reviewing 
available financial information including statutory accounts.

 Tenure – the Council will consider whether the property is freehold or leasehold, and in the case 
of the latter, the length of the lease and/or the unexpired term, and the implications for future 
capital value and any ongoing revenue costs

 Occupier lease length – where a property is let to an existing tenant, the unexpired length of 
the lease term must be taken into account to assess the likelihood of future revenue streams 
being interrupted.  The Council will also consider any potential break options built into the 
existing lease, and the marketability of the property in terms of the ability to gain good quality 
tenants at acceptable rental levels.

 Ease/cost of management – terms of leases can vary, from those where the tenant is 
responsible for all the costs of repairing, insuring and maintaining the property, to those where 
such responsibilities lie fully with the landlord. Consideration will be taken of any existing terms 
and the resulting financial implications for the Council.

 Lot size – the scale of the opportunity and other factors such as location, infrastructure etc will 
impact on the value and future marketability of the asset.

The completed matrix provides a score for the opportunity, focussing on security and liquidity, and 
providing an initial indication of financial viability and value for money.

ii. SWOT Analysis – building on the information gained for the Opportunity Scoring Matrix, analysis is 
then completed in terms of the Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats in relation to the 
proposed investment.  In addition to the factors above, this analysis brings in wider considerations 
such as opportunities for regeneration, any economic factors pertaining to a particular sector, or 
potential political/reputational considerations for the Council, and is important in terms of initial 
identification of risk.

iii. Initial Financial Assessment – the steps above form the basis of a decision in terms of whether to 
proceed further with the investment.  In the case of a positive outcome further work will be carried 
out to formulate an initial financial assessment, including production of a discounted cash flow 
covering a maximum period of 50 years (this being the maximum borrowing term set by the Public 
Works Loan Board).   The income and expenditure predicted for the whole life of the asset is 
considered, including any potential financing costs and likely capital expenditure required.  This 
information is measured against the financial parameters of the Fund.  

iv. Due Diligence – positive outcomes in terms of the above processes will (given appropriate 
approvals from the Sub-Committee) result in a non-binding offer being made to the vendor.  The 
Council will then undertake a detailed due diligence process covering all relevant property/ 

Page 24



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 16

financial/legal considerations.  Where applicable a report from the introducing external property 
agent will be requested, and the detailed information gained will be used to produce a 
comprehensive financial appraisal, taking into account a range of possible future scenarios, 
sensitivity analysis, the likely average yield over the life of the asset and a Net Present Value 
calculation.   A second, independent report is usually commissioned from external property advisors 
to scrutinise the information from the introducing agent and provide challenge, in order to gain 
assurance around the overall position, particularly around the valuation of the investment and 
whether this represents value for money for the Council.

v. Report to Sub-Committee – should the outcome of the due diligence prove positive, a final report will 
be produced and presented to the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee, providing the business 
case for the proposed investment (including all identified risks) and the results of the due diligence.  
Relevant officers will attend the Committee in order to provide further explanation and clarification 
as required.

vi. Scrutiny of Decisions – investment decisions of the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee are 
available for scrutiny by the Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

5.1.5 Borrowing for Commercial Investment

The funding of commercial investments via borrowing presents additional risks for an authority due to the 
inherent risks involved in the exposure to market forces that such investment presents – i.e. the risk that the 
costs of borrowing will not be met through investment income.  The Council’s Borrowing Strategy is set out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy.  Borrowing decisions are made with respect to the Council’s overall 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), being the historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet 
been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  The Council’s commercial property investments will 
ultimately contribute to an increase in the CFR, but the Council does not currently specifically borrow to 
fund these investments.  The management of the Council’s borrowing is the responsibility of the Treasury 
Management Team in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy.

5.1.6 Liabilities – Identification and Approval

The robust appraisal, due diligence and decision-making process detailed in paragraph 5.1.3 above will 
serve to identify any risks and potential liabilities resulting from the Council’s non-treasury investment 
activities.  These may include loans, PFI contracts and financial guarantees, including those given in 
respect of subsidiaries or joint ventures.   Any such liabilities will be subject to the same approval processes 
as per paragraph 5.1.3 (including the approval of Members via the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee), 
will be available for scrutiny via the relevant Scrutiny Committee, and will be monitored via the processes 
described in paragraph 5.2 below.

5.2 Governance Process for Approval and Monitoring

5.2.1 Investment Management & Reporting, and Ongoing Monitoring of Liabilities

The financial implications of the Council’s Property Growth Fund investments forms part of the Council’s 
budget monitoring processes, and is included as part of the Finance Update Report, which is reported to 
Cabinet on a bi-monthly basis and is reviewed by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.    

In addition to this, ongoing performance monitoring is carried out specifically with respect to the Property 
Growth Fund and is reported to the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee on a quarterly basis; these 

Page 25



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 17

reports are available for scrutiny by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The monitoring 
reports include the financial performance of individual investments and also consider the cumulative 
performance of the Fund as a whole, both in terms of the current financial year and a 20 year forecast, 
identifying potential future risks.    Any identified liabilities arising from the Council’s Property Growth Fund 
Investments will be incorporated into this monitoring as and when they arise.

5.3 Summary of Material Investments, Guarantees and Liabilities

5.3.1 Register of Investments 

The Council maintains a register of investment properties - being properties held for rental income or for 
capital appreciation - which are reported on as part of the annual statutory accounts.  The table below 
summarises the material, non-treasury property investments held by the Council in January 2019:

Non-Treasury Investment Property >£1m  Revaluation 
Value

£m 

56 Yorkshire St, Rochdale 4.5
Bingo Hall, Smith St, Rochdale 3.6
Point 62, Stakehill, Middleton 10.3
Southgate Industrial Estate, Heywood (est) 2.1
Land at Oldham Road, Rochdale (est) 14.1
Manchester Airport 9.1
Total 43.7

At the end of 2017/18 the fair value of the Council’s investment properties was £41.2m.  This includes 
acquisitions funded from the Property Growth Fund, plus the Council’s historic commercial & industrial 
estate.

The breakdown of the Property Growth Fund portfolio is currently as follows:

Retail
13%

Retail / 
Residential

39%

Industrial
37%

Leisure
11%

Property Growth Fund Investments by Sector

Page 26



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 18

The Council does not currently have any identified liabilities or guarantees in respect of its non-treasury 
investment property activities.
5.3.2 Fair Value Assessment 

It is important that the Council takes steps to monitor the continuing value of its investments, to confirm that 
the underlying assets provide security for those investments, or to enable the Council to take mitigating 
actions to protect the capital invested.  

A fair value assessment of all the Council’s assets (including its property investments) is undertaken 
annually as part of the completion of the statutory accounts.  

The results of the last fair value assessment completed can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts 
2017/18.  The Council is satisfied that its underlying assets provide security for the capital investment 
undertaken.    

6. Treasury Management

The Council produces a Treasury Management Strategy, which is approved on an annual basis by Full 
Council as part of the budget setting process.  There are close links between the Capital Investment & 
Disposal Strategy and the Treasury Management Strategy.  The capital programme determines the 
Council’s need to borrow, to ensure that it can meet its capital spending requirements.  A link to the 
Treasury Management Strategy can be found in section 11.

6.1 Governance

6.1.1 Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary

Limits on the Council’s ability to borrow to fund capital expenditure are defined in the Treasury Management 
Strategy and are summarised below.  

The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit for 2019/20 is £621.9m; this represents a control on our 
maximum level of borrowing, and is a legislative limit beyond which external borrowing is prohibited.

The Council’s Operational Boundary debt forecast for 2019/20 is £532.6m.  This represents a maximum 
limit on the anticipated level of external borrowing.

The Council monitors its performance against these key prudential indicators to ensure that all of its capital 
expenditure, investments and borrowing decisions are prudent and sustainable.

6.1.2 Local Indicators

The Treasury Management Strategy includes a number of indicators which allow assessment of the 
Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions, including how investments are funded 
and the levels of return expected to be received.  Indicators specific to the Council’s non-financial 
investments are included at paragraph 6.3.3.

6.1.3 Decision-making and Risk Management

The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the framework within which treasury management decisions 
are made, how risks are managed, and what delegations are in place in order to carry out these functions.  

Page 27



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 19

Borrowing decisions are carried out in line with this framework, and are driven by the Council’s Capital 
Financing Requirement, incorporating the approved capital programme, which includes planned commercial 
property investments.   Opportunity appraisal processes described at paragraph 5.1.3 ensure financing 
costs are fully considered by Members as part of investment decision making.    

6.1.4 Scrutiny – The Council follows the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 and supporting 
regulations in managing its Treasury Management activities.  The governance and scrutiny arrangements 
with regard to treasury management are set out within the annual Treasury Management Strategy.

6.2 Long Term Planning

6.2.1 Long-Term Projections

The Council’s proposed capital programme over the next three financial years is shown at paragraph 4.2.1.  
The Treasury Management Strategy contains details of the Council’s projected overall CFR and gross debt 
over the same period.  This brings together the historic position in terms of capital expenditure to date and 
projected future spend in terms of the capital programme, and shows how the Council will manage the 
overall debt supporting the expenditure. The CFR/Gross Debt position, including the Council’s liability 
benchmark, is explained in detail in the Treasury Management Strategy.

6.2.2 Repayment of Debt

The Treasury Management Strategy provides details of how the debt shown above is planned to be repaid, 
including the requirement for the Council to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) to charge our 
accumulated CFR to revenue over time, and to ensure for prudent repayment of debt on capital loans. 

6.3 Risk Appetite, Key Risks and Sensitivities

6.3.1 Risk Appetite

Although investment in commercial property will always carry some level of risk, the Council is mindful of its 
responsibilities in terms of the security, liquidity and yield of those investments as set out in the Prudential 
Code, and seeks to minimise its exposure to risks that are unwanted and incompatible with the level of 
returns generated.   The Council’s capital and treasury management activities are managed on an ongoing 
basis to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity in the short and medium term to meet costs and support the 
provision of services, as well as meeting long-term solvency and funding requirements.

6.3.2 Key Risks

The Council identifies risks on a case by case basis specific to each investment as part of its opportunity 
appraisal and due diligence processes, however the following risks are considered to be generic to all 
capital investments:

 Financial risks – related to the investment of the Council’s assets, the impact on cash flow, market 
volatility and associated risks 

 Macroeconomic risk – i.e. the growth or decline of the local economy, inflation, interest rates, and 
the impact of fluctuations in the national or global economy

 Credit and counterparty risk – being the risk that a counterparty to a contract will not honour its 
obligations to meet its payments (e.g. a property tenant not paying its rental obligations)

 Operational risk – related to operational failures within the authority, counterparties or partners in 
respect of internal processes, systems or people

Page 28



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 20

 Strategic risk – related to key initiatives undertaken by the Council e.g. significant investments, 
new ventures, commercial interests and other areas of organisational change deemed necessary to 
help the Council achieve its aims

 Reputational risk – that adverse outcomes from the Council’s investments, dealings and interests 
impact adversely on the Council’s reputation 

 Environmental and social risks – i.e. any potential environmental/social impact arising from the 
Council’s investments or strategy

 Governance risk – the risk that the Council’s governance processes are insufficient to ensure the 
desired outcomes of the Council’s strategy.

In addition to the above, specific operational risks that the Council could be exposed to as a result of its 
commercial property investments include:

 Risk of vacancies/voids – leading to a reduction in investment returns and an inability to meet any 
borrowing costs

 Reduction in capital value – leading to a potential loss on valuation
 Property market downturn/negative market trends – the cyclical nature of the property market 

may lead to reduced returns or e.g. a trend towards shorter leases and greater tenant turnover
 Lack of diversification – poor performance of a particular sector may have a disproportionate 

impact on the Council’s investment returns
 Poor liquidity – the impact on the Council’s cash flow from investing resources in long-term 

property assets.

Management of the above risks is an area of significant focus for the Council’s Officers and Members, and 
is an area that will continue to develop over the next financial year.

6.3.3 Quantitative Indicators

The Council has developed the following quantitative indicators to allow Members and/or the general public 
to assess the authority’s total risk exposure as a result of commercial property investment decisions.

The indicators associated with the Council’s Property Growth Fund commercial property investments are 
detailed below.

It should be noted (as stated in paragraph 5.1.5 above) that the Council does not currently borrow 
specifically for its investment property acquisitions, due to its significant underborrowing position.  For the 
purpose of the indicators below a notional borrowing position has been estimated, based on the PWLB 
interest rates published at the date of each investment.

(a) Debt to Net Service Expenditure Ratio

This indicator measures the gross debt associated with Property Growth Fund investments as a percentage 
of net service expenditure (NSE), where NSE is used as a proxy for the size and financial strength of a local 
authority.

Page 29



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Gross Debt 19,361 35,172 78,515 87,097 85,579
NSE 204,400 202,677 208,425 204,655 205,898
Debt to NSE Ratio 9.47% 17.35% 37.67% 42.56% 41.56% 120%

Limit

The indicator shows that the potential debt level resulting from the expected activities of the Property 
Growth Fund will be less than half of the Council’s annual net spend, if all the proposed investment activity 
is funded from borrowing.  Given the review of risk as part of the appraisal and decision making process, 
and the fact that any borrowing would be supported by an asset, this is considered to be reasonable.

A maximum limit of 120% has been set for this indicator.

(b) Commercial Income to Net Service Expenditure Ratio

This indicator measures the Council’s dependence on the net income from Property Growth Fund to enable 
it to deliver core services.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Commercial Income 342 618 1,383 1,840 1,752
NSE 204,400 202,677 208,425 204,655 205,898
Commercial Income to 
NSE Ratio

0.17% 0.30% 0.66% 0.90% 0.85% 1.85%

Limit

The indicator shows that the net income generated from Property Growth Fund investments is expected to 
fund less than 1% of the Council’s net service expenditure in the next three years.  This position is 
considered to be reasonable.

A maximum limit of 1.85% has been set for this indicator, however this will be reviewed as part of the work 
the Council is undertaking on aligning income with its core activities, as discussed in paragraph 5.1.2 
above.

(c) Investment Cover Ratio 

This indicator shows the total net income from property investments, compared to the interest expense.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Investment Cover Ratio 2.9 2.9 2.7 2.6 2.5

This indicator shows that the net income from property investments is expected to be between 2.5 and 2.9 
times higher than the expected interest expense.  The Council considers this to be an acceptable level of 
cover.

Page 30



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 22

(d) Loan to Value Ratio

This indicator measures the amount of debt attributable to the Council’s Property Growth Fund portfolio 
compared to the total asset value.

 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Loan to Value Ratio 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.03 1.01

This outcome shows that the Council’s expected amount of debt attributable to its Property Growth Fund 
investments is expected to be marginally higher that the value of the assets it has invested in.  This is a 
normal outcome in the period immediately after the purchase of properties, due to the costs of making the 
investment (e.g. stamp duty, legal fees), which will be included in the amount borrowed but will not add to 
the property’s value.  The gradual decrease in the loan to value ratio reflects that property values are 
expected to remain constant, but borrowing will be repaid.  This is considered to be a reasonable position.

(e) Target Income Returns

This indicator shows net revenue income compared to equity, and is a measure of the achievement of the 
Property Growth Fund portfolio.  The net return is shown after taking account of expected borrowing costs.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Target Income Returns 1.75% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

This shows that the Council exceeded the target return in 2017/18. 

(f) Benchmarking of Returns

This indicator is a measure of the gross returns (i.e. before operating or financing costs) from the Property 
Growth Fund portfolio against benchmark returns.  The current Strategy shows the Council’s return 
benchmarked against industry standards.  As the Strategy develops this indicator will include performance 
against the returns of other Councils.  

Actual Benchmark
2017/18

%
Property 

Yields
March 18

%
Retail 8.58% 4.00%
Leisure 8.70% 7.00%
Industrial 6.22% 5.00%

Sector

This indicator shows that the Council’s property investments have outperformed both the industry 
benchmark in all sectors.  The Council also holds treasury-related investments, which are managed under 
the principles of the Treasury Management Strategy, with a focus on security, liquidity and yield (in that 

Page 31



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 23

order) with the primary objective of safeguarding Council resources.  The return achieved on treasury 
investments (0.42% in 2017/18), is indicative of the different aims of the two strategies.

(g) Gross and Net Income

This indicator shows the income received from the investment portfolio at a gross level and net level (i.e. 
less costs) over time.  

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Gross Income 867 1,849 4,155 5,948 6,093
Net Income 342 618 1,383 1,840 1,752

The Council sets a net income target based on 1.5% of its investment cost, and this is built into the budget 
on an ongoing basis, meaning this saving will need to be achieved if current service delivery levels are to 
be maintained by the Council.

(h) Operating Costs

This indicator shows the trend in the operating costs of the Property Growth Fund portfolio over time, as the 
portfolio expands.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Operating Costs 32 33 144 279 304

The expected operating costs are currently low compared to the anticipated level of investment – this is 
because the majority of the Council’s property investments are currently subject to Full Repairing and 
Insuring (FRI) leases, meaning the costs of maintaining and repairing the properties are largely with the 
tenants.

(i) Vacancy Levels and Tenant Exposures
 
This indicator monitors the vacancy levels (voids) of the Property Growth Fund portfolio to ensure that 
investments are being managed and are as productive as possible.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Void periods 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

The Council did not experience any voids in its investment properties in 2017/18 and is not expecting any 
void periods in the financial years detailed.  This reflects the quality of covenant strength expected by the 
Council in making a property acquisition.  

Page 32



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 24

7. Skills and Knowledge

7.1 Internal Resources

7.1.1 Skills and Knowledge within the Authority

Financial aspects of the capital programme and treasury management activities are managed by the 
Council’s Finance Service, including professionally qualified accountants with a comprehensive and 
extensive mix of local authority and private sector experience.  The Council’s Section 151 Officer has 
overall responsibility for capital programme and treasury management activities, and is also a professionally 
qualified accountant.

All the Council’s commercial/investment projects are managed by a working group of officers from across 
the Council, including property management, legal professionals and finance support, who are all 
appropriately experienced and qualified in their respective fields. Finance/Legal Services input into this 
working group ensures that investment activities adhere to the core principles of the prudential framework 
and the regulatory regime within which the Council operates. 

7.1.2 Training for Staff and Councillors

Professionally qualified officers follow a Continuous Professional Development (CPD) plan to keep their 
skills and knowledge up to date, and gain understanding of new developments.  Officers regularly attend 
training courses, seminars and conferences provided by CIPFA and other appropriate organisations.  
Training of all Council officers is assessed throughout the year via appraisal processes.  Members 
undertake financial awareness training as part of their induction; Members of the Property Growth Fund 
Sub-Committee are fully briefed on the detail of the investment proposals presented to them including 
business cases/ financial appraisals, and are fully supported by officers throughout the decision-making 
process.  A training package specifically for Members in respect of capital investments is currently under 
development.

7.2 Use of External Advisors

Where in-house expertise is unavailable, external professional advice is utilised, ranging from commercial 
property consultants and legal experts to specific taxation advice.  Independent external advice is routinely 
sought as part of the due diligence required for investment appraisal processes.

8. Process for Monitoring Compliance and Effectiveness 
of the Strategy Document (Mandatory)

Weekly meetings – Property Growth Fund Working Group
Bi-monthly meetings – Property Growth Fund Steering Group
Quarterly Property Growth Fund Performance Reports – Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee
Internal and External Audit checks

9. Strategy Governance (Mandatory)

Consisting of:
 Identify who within Rochdale Borough Council is accountable, responsible, informed or 

consulted with regards to this strategy. The following definitions apply:

Page 33



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 25

Responsible the person(s) responsible for developing and implementing the strategy.
Accountable the person who has ultimate accountability and authority for the strategy.
Ownership the person(s) or group who has overall ownership of the strategy.
Consulted the person(s) or groups to be consulted prior to final strategy implementation or amendment.
Informed the person(s) or groups to be informed after strategy implementation or amendment. 

Responsible Chief Finance Officer

Accountable Chief Finance Officer

Ownership Head of Commercial, Economy & Resources Finance

Consulted Leadership Team

Informed Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee

10. Strategy Review Date

This Strategy will be reviewed in January 2020

11. Supporting Documents

 Corporate Plan:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx 

 Place Plan for the Borough: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/place-plan.aspx 

 Townships Plan:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/place-and-environment/Pages/townships-plan.aspx 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/medium-term-financial-strategy.aspx 

 Asset Strategy:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/asset-strategy.aspx 

 Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-
accounts/Pages/default.aspx 

Page 34

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/place-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/place-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/place-and-environment/Pages/townships-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/place-and-environment/Pages/townships-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/medium-term-financial-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/medium-term-financial-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/asset-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/asset-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-accounts/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-accounts/Pages/default.aspx


Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 26

12. Appendix 1

Page 35



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 27

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk Page 36



Document is Restricted

Page 37

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 40

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy for 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy for 2019/20

	8 Property Investments
	Append. 1 for Property Investments


